FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/29/2022 4:54 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101058-3

No. 826808

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AVI LEANNE TAYLOR,

Petitioner

V.

MIRINA BARBARA JANE STONE

Respondent

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Avi Taylor Petitioner PO BOX 1014 Monroe, WA (206) 715-6161

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1
C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED4
1. The appellate court committed probable error that substantially alters the status quo, departs from the accepted course of proceedings and substantially limits the freedom of parties to act when not considering ability to pay, indigency, disability or homelessness prior to imposing costs
2. The decision imposing LFOs on an indigent runs contrary to the public policy concerns that prompted the amendment to statutes to limit LFOs imposed on individuals who are indigent
3. The appellate court committed probable error that substantially limits the freedom of a party to act when imposing costs upon a disabled, indigent individual, sentencing her to a lifetime of hearings, a modern day debtors' prison, thereby punishing and perpetuating her poverty and physical state16
4. The appellate court committed probable error that substantially alters the status quo and limits the freedom of a

party to act when imposing discretionary costs upon a disabled indigent whole sole source of income is SSDI22
5. The appellate court committed probable error that substantially limits the freedom of parties to act when little can be done about LFOs once imposed
6. The appellate court committed obvious errors that substantially limits the freedom of a party to act, renders further proceedings useless, substantially alters status quo departs from accepted course of proceedings and sanctions such a departure
F. CONCLUSION
Appendix

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases
Palmer v. Jensen
Richland v. Wakefield
State v. Catling
State v. Taylor
State v. Rohrich
Other State
Bennett v. Arkansas
Federal Case
United States v. Smith

Other Authorities

A Fine Scheme: How Municipal Fines Become Crushing Debt
in the Shadow of the New Debtors' Prisons, Harvard Law
Review
https://harvardcrcl.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/10/2009/06/
HLC102_crop.pdf
"Are You Able-Bodied?" Embodying Accountability in the
Modern Criminal Justice System. J Contemp Crim Justice.
2021 Feb;37(1):25-44. doi: 10.1177/1043986220965034. Epub
2020 Oct 17. PMID: 33888971; PMCID: PMC8059708
8, 20, 21, 28
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8059708/
"Dear Colleague" Letter by U.S. Department of Justice Civil
Rights Division - Office for Access to Justice - 20164, 30
https://www.courts.wa.gov/subsite/mjc/docs/DOJDearColleague.pdf
Debt Bondage: How Private Collection Agencies Keep the
Formerly Incarcerated Tethered to the Criminal Justice System,
15 NW. J. L. & SOC. POL'Y. 305 (2020)
https://scholarlycommons.law.northwestern.edu/njlsp/vol15/iss3/2
Formal Opinion 490 - March 24, 2020 - Ethical Obligations of
Judges in Collecting Legal Financial Obligations and Other
Debts
https://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/administrative/
professional responsibility/aba formal opinion 490.pdf
professional_responsionity/uou_formal_opinion_150.par
It's All About the Money, Money, Money: Criminalizing
Poverty
https://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/directories/
pro bono clearinghouse/eic 2016 68.pdf

Legal Financial Obligations: A Ball and Chain By Judge Theresa Doyle
https://www.courts.wa.gov/committee/pdf/2015MJCAnnualReport.pdf
Legal Financial Obligations: Fulfilling the Promise of Gideon by Reducing the Burden - Seattle Journal for Social Justice 2013
"Monetary Sanctions as Chronic and Acute Health Stressors: The Emotional Strain of People Who Owe Court Fines and Fees." RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences 8.2 (2022): 36-56. Web. 29 Aug. 2022
Robbing Peter to Pay Paul:Public Assistance, Monetary Sanctions, and Financial Double-Dealing in America23 https://muse.jhu.edu/article/846824
"Studying the System of Monetary Sanctions." RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences 8.2 (2022): 1-33. Web. 28 Aug. 20229, 19, 28 https://www.rsfjournal.org/content/8/2/1
The Confusing Standards for Discretionary Review in Washington and a Proposed Framework for Clarity29 https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2236&context=sulr
The Costs of Justice

The Debtors' Prison Scheme: Yet Another Bar in The Birdcage
of Mass Incarceration of Communities of Color20
N.Y.U. REVIEW OF LAW & SOCIAL CHANGE Vol. 41:235
https://socialchangenyu.com/review/the-debtors-prison-scheme-yet-another-bar-in-the-birdcage-of-mass-incarceration-of-communities-of-color/
Understanding the Burden of Legal Financial Obligations on
Indigent Washingtonians January 202211
https://www.mdpi.com/2076-0760/11/17/htm
Rules
RAP 1.2(c)
RAP 13.5
Other Authorities
Section 207 of the SS Act (42 USC §407)22, 23, 24



A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Avi Taylor asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

A copy of the decision denying petitioners Motion to Modify is in Appendix A.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should discretionary LFOs be imposed upon disabled, indigent individuals who do not have the ability to pay?
- 2. Should indigency, disability, and homelessness be considered when imposing costs for all Washington State litigants?
- 3. Should there be an order imposing costs on someone below poverty level whose sole source of income is SSDI?

- 4. Should disabled, indigent individuals whose sole source of SSDI be given the impossible ultimatum to either pay with their benefits or appear forever, either directly or indirectly?
- 5. Should only criminals and the mentally disabled be eligible for cost waivers, or do their civil and physically disabled counterparts also deserve debt relief? Should judges have more freedom to act, dispense justice and waive costs once imposed?
- 6. Should someone be charged for the right to review, but be denied review when based on untenable grounds?
- 7. Should modern-day Debtors' Prisons be allowed, either directly or indirectly; should we be punishing poverty?

D. STATEMENT OF CASE

Petitioner is a disabled, indigent and homeless Washingtonian.

(See Motion to Modify p.2-3, Appendix B) She brought this

matter to the appellate court who denied review, but imposed discretionary costs, without taking into account indigency determinations or ability to pay. (See Commissioner's Ruling Awarding Costs, Appendix C); (See Objections to Cost Bill, Appendix D); (See Indigency Orders, Appendix E); (See Proof of Income, Appendix F). She submitted an Objection to Cost Bill, and later a Motion to Modify and Reply, but the court held that indigency is only applicable to criminals, not their civil counterparts. (See Reply, Appendix G) She begged them to reconsider, showing them where the exhibits in the record on review were, where the NIED claim had been asserted at trial, as was the basis for their decision to award costs, but they still refused review, imposing costs. (See Order Denying Motion to Modify, Appendix A); (See Opinion No. 82680-8-I)

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The appellate court committed probable error that substantially alters the status quo, departs from the accepted course of proceedings and substantially limits the freedom of parties to act when not considering ability to pay, indigency, disability or homelessness prior to imposing costs.

The U.S. Supreme Court states that "Courts have an affirmative duty to conduct these (ability to pay) inquiries and should do so sua sponte." Or, of their own accord. Importantly, they clarify that courts should inquire into the ability to pay *when imposing LFOs*, rather than waiting until a person fails to pay. This they say, avoids an array of preventable problems. This is applicable to civil matters, and should permeate into these proceedings, as issued by the U.S. Department of Justice Civil Rights Division in their "Dear Colleague" letter. (See "*Dear Colleague*")

The American Bar Association also recommends that judges consider ability to pay when imposing LFOs, "to prevent the

imposition of crippling fine and fee burdens that (the poor) cannot hope to repay." (See "It's all about the Money")

As they explain, the duty to inquire into ability to pay when setting, imposing, or collecting LFOs is foundational and that "A judge's uncertainty regarding whether inquiry into a litigant's ability to pay in a particular circumstance is necessary under binding precedent should be resolved in favor of making the inquiry. And where a litigant is unrepresented or the matter is civil, doubts about ability to pay ... should generally be resolved ... in the absence of circumstances indicating that the litigant poses a threat to public safety." (See "Formal Opinion 490")

As the Harvard Law Review also recommends: "judges should as a best practice briefly inquire about indigency as a routine aspect of imposing fines . . . this inquiry should take place before costs, penalties, and additional fees accrue and before

the violator reaches the point of nonpayment. (See "A Fine Scheme")

"One of the ways in which the system has not yet achieved the promise of Gideon is in the imposition of fines and fees . . . Courts must be educated on the impact of LFOs and why their blanket imposition is not improving judicial integrity and may, in fact, result in increased disenfranchisement . . . The principle underlying Gideon, and all other due process principles, is that a person . . . will be treated fairly. Imposing fees and fines that a person will never be able to pay does not improve judicial integrity. Instead, it increases the likelihood a person who found themselves in the (justice system) will continue to remain there, unable to discharge the LFOs that were imposed in their case. . . reforming the way that LFOs are imposed in the first place need to be priorities for all" (See "LFOs: Fulfilling Gideon")

2. The decision imposing LFOs on an indigent runs contrary to the public policy concerns that prompted the amendment to statutes to limit LFOs imposed on individuals who are indigent.

Conducting an ability to pay analysis prior to imposing costs is an important step, as acknowledged by these courts when they accepted review in Blazina. Similar to in that case, the court had the discretion to order costs, but it was not required to inquire about ability to pay at the time, so they ordered them regardless of indigency. Described as "a watershed moment in Washingtons LFO reform", the Supreme Court stepped in, reversed and remanded, requiring the court to inquire prior to imposing. HB 1783 reflects this reasoning, requiring courts to inquire about indigency prior to imposing discretionary costs, including appellate costs. There, a finding of indigency means that unreachable debts are not imposed. (See "Debt Bondage")

In 2018, our legislature prohibited judges from imposing discretionary fines or fees on defendants if they were indigent,

homeless, or mentally ill. In 2020, Seattle Municipal Court judges moved to discontinue imposing discretionary costs in criminal cases. Yet, in Washington State still today, indigent disabled litigants, who exist well below the poverty level are being subjected to LFOs monumentally disproportionate to their respective incomes, without regard to their lack of ability to generate income; much like in this case. This reality runs contrary to the logic and public policy concerns that prompted these initiatives and respective rulings. The sheer magnitude of research that supported this sweeping LFO reform, all confirming the inequities, impossible situations and injustices created with the imposition of LFOs on Washingtons' indigent, disabled citizens. It leads to many things, not least of which is a "lower life expectancy and a greater chance at illness" (See "A Fine Scheme"); (See also "Are you able-bodied?"); (See also "Studying Sanctions"). Suffice it to say, it impacts these individuals 'outside the present case' and for many, indefinitely.

Who "deserves" debt relief? Is one interesting question raised. Criminals, by the sounds of it, but those they injured? Their civil counterparts? They are left to fend for themselves, without the same consideration and protection that the law should offer in equal doses to all. As noted in the research article, this much needed "sweeping transformation of the system would require action at the Supreme Court or federal level ..." if we're serious about providing for our most impoverished people.

(See "Studying the System of Monetary Sanctions")

As the honorable Judge Theresa Doyle asks in the Washington Supreme Court Minority & Justice Commissions Annual Report, LFO's: A Ball & Chain: "At what point has the person suffered enough?", "Are we creating a permanent underclass of the jobless, homeless, and disenfranchised?" For our indigent, disabled, civil citizens, long forgotten about, yes. She says "the inequity created by the imposition of LFOs on the indigent, is obvious . . . as these fees are imposed regardless of income,

allowing wealthier litigants to simply write a check, while the poor drag their debt around like a ball and chain." The sheer inconsistencies and gaps in Washington State's current LFO policy, providing for an ability to pay analysis prior to imposing in criminal but not civil courts, in trial but not appellate courts. We must do better to provide for our population, not a percentage of it. She notes that while there have been some measures in Washington State to provide for more of our people and avoid these preventable proceedings, such as HB 1390 in 2015 that would have provided that nonpayment by an indigent person is presumed to be not willful -many thanks to logic for almost coming to the party- the author died before the senate hearing and there remains a gap, that can be filled, here & now.

(See "LFOs: A Ball and Chain")

The imposition of LFOs on indigent Washingtonians is a hot topic and one actively undergoing a metamorphosis in law due to the fact that it is so detrimental, destructive and definitive to our citizens lives, society and state as a whole, without proper checks and balances in place. LFO debt "disproportionately impacts indigent Washingtonians, subjecting them to a greater possibility of harm ... (the study highlights the) need for greater ability to waive or reduce LFOs (and) raises concerns over fairness of LFOs and ability to pay." Which, is notably applicable to all litigants; for criminals are not the only indigent Washingtonians -once they commit the crimes, often times, so then is their victim. (See "Understanding the Burden of LFOs on Indigent Washingtonians")

In 2016 these courts were asked "to issue a ruling to set precedent for future cases. The Court agreed to do so." A unanimous decision "held that the imposition of (LFOs) on indigent or disabled defendants violates state and federal law when the trial court makes no particularized finding that the defendant has a current or future ability to pay." Noting that the lower courts had failed to apply the "manifest hardship" rule,

"which prohibits imposing discretionary LFOs in cases where the defendant cannot pay without creating an undue hardship", as her income didn't even cover her basic expenses, and the courts had failed to consider the impact her homelessness and disability would have on her ability to pay, as in this case.

Today, in 2022, these courts are asked to do the same, and issue a ruling to set precedent for future cases. The imposition of LFOs "disproportionately affect disabled people who rely on SSDI. Without the ability to work, their LFOs will likely persist and continue to negatively affect their lives. Individuals with lifelong disabilities that prevent them from working may never be able to pay off their LFOs, resulting in a lifetime of hearings about ability to pay LFOs" As stressed in Catling, "because of his disability, [Catling] abides trapped in an enduring legal process and he suffers other coercive consequences."

"Nothing in this statute limits the number of times the clerk can summon the debtor to the clerk's office.' This imposition is particularly burdensome for Catling, who has a debilitating condition that leaves him in chronic pain." Very much like in this case. "A debt must be capable of being paid, if it is not instead a lifetime of servitude." This case is not unique, there are many Washingtonians presented with similar sticky situations, that are only made survivable and non-cyclical by these courts; we must do a better job providing for them.

(See *Catling*)

"Washingtonians with disabilities experience disproportionate harm (as they) are not exempted from LFOs ... (even) people with (SSDI) have no protection from becoming saddled with debt from LFOs despite their limited income. Recent and current lawsuits against city and county governments in Washington argue that the state's LFO laws violate federal and state constitutional protections against excessive fines, since

they don't adequately take into account residents' capacity to pay". There is a gap in the law and our people are falling through it; how is it that those with mental disabilities have been provided for, but not those with physical disabilities? If a "person suffers from a mental health condition that prevents (them) from participating in gainful employment—as evidenced by a determination of mental disability based upon enrollment in a public assistance program ...the court should not impose additional LFOs." The same should apply to physical disabilities; they too meet the standard for exemption articulated in *Fuller*, that the imposition of LFOs will create a "manifest hardship" (citations in article). Then, the physically disabled are notably mobility impaired, and the courts are commanding them to 'be mobile!', whereas their physically capable, mentally challenged friends, are able to stay home.

The study also notes that on the criminals end, there is no question that the "criminal act and it's consequences "makes a

challenging life even more difficult", in some cases - notably still the opposite here; then you add on costs, and it's even more so. That's only the first domino, though -and one they flicked, notably. The rest of those dominoes, the actual damages that stemmed from their negligent act - someone else has suffered, and is many cases, is still suffering, very much at the expense of their liberties, and livelihood, and any resemblance of life.

They too, are in court, the target of the crime, having already suffered more than the criminal, yet somehow, only the first domino is being provided for - the one they flicked, except, the rest unavoidably and naturally follow, and some of the dominoes from these crimes, are taken care of on the civil side.

(See "LFOs: Fulfilling Gideon")

3. The appellate court committed probable error that substantially limits the freedom of a party to act when imposing costs upon a disabled, indigent individual, sentencing her to a

lifetime of hearings, a modern day debtors' prison, thereby punishing and perpetuating her poverty and physical state.

"When courts fail to conduct the applicable legal analysis (assessing indigency) before imposing fines, the imposition of these fines results in "new types of prisons for the poor and poor alone" who find themselves indefinitely tied to the system, "unable to extricate themselves from a system trying to squeeze blood from turnips."

"Judges should as a best practice briefly inquire about indigency as a routine aspect of imposing fines . . . this inquiry should take place before costs, penalties, and additional fees accrue and before the violator reaches the point of nonpayment. While some may argue that this imposes too many additional costs on the court system, I argue that the alternative is even more costly. Under the present system, judges hold a hearing where they impose unpayable fines on indigent violators, then the municipality or a third party harasses (them) for months or

years in an attempt to collect. Some time later, once (little or no payment), a hearing on the issue of nonpayment is held at which point (indigency is inconsistently considered) . . . this protracted system wastes the time and money of both the courts and (indigent litigants) that appear before them, and can easily be avoided by a single question at the moment that the fines are imposed: "Would payment of this fine seriously interfere with or prevent the provision of basic necessities for you or your family?" If the answer is yes, the court can immediately proceed to a Bearden hearing, eliminating every step (and every cost) in between."

"Whether the fine is \$10 or \$1,000 is immaterial; they cannot pay, and fining them makes them poorer. . . the indigent cannot be deterred from "crimes" that they must commit because of their poverty, particularly the crime of not paying a fine or fee. For those who lack funds, LFOs disrupt (many things). This practice further criminalizes poverty and leaves those with the

fewest resources with the burden of financing the very programs that target and harass them. Those unable to pay fines end up in jail or with continued court supervision, and wind up paying much more than wealthier defendants in the form of warrant, booking, supervision, and monitoring fees, as well as late penalties with high interest. This (results in) a lifetime of spiraling debt that a poor person cannot escape."

(See "A Fine Scheme")

This is why the N.Y.U Law Review recommends that people in poverty be automatically determined as not having the ability to pay - at the time of imposition - thereby saving them the preventable proceedings that ensue, the 'ability to pay' hearings. It is logically then only the people not in poverty, who would attend these hearings. In this case, multiple judges on separate occasions have already made such determinations, and verified that this indigent, disabled individual does not have the ability to pay; do we really need another hearing? x infinity?

(See "A Debtors' Prison Scheme")

(See Appendix E - Indigency Orders)

This is a static state for many, this indigency; they are immobilized in more ways than one. Yet, for disabled indigents, it is this inescapable indigency, that "triggers repeated court appearances, prolonged system involvement" damages physical, mental and emotional health, increases economic and legal strains, and imparts "an overwhelming sense of fear, frustration, anxiety, and despair". (See "Studying the System of Monetary Sanctions") (See also "Monetary Sanctions as Chronic and Acute Health Stressors") Which, for someone who has already been suffering all of the above damages with little or no relief the past six years, the added imposition of costs unreasonably magnifies and perpetuates damages sustained. Washington State Courts could do just about anything to their indigent, disabled citizens, but should they?

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