**FILED** SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/1/2022 3:49 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON **CLERK** 

CAUSE No. 101058-3

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AVI LEANNE TAYLOR, Appellant,

v.

MIRINA STONE, Respondent.

#### ANSWER TO PROPOSED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark M. Miller, WSBA No. 16382 Attorney for Respondent Mirina Stone

Law Offices of Mark M. Miller Employees of Farmers Insurance Exchange, a Member of the Farmers Insurance Group of Companies PO Box 258829 Oklahoma City, OK 73125-8829

Telephone: (425) 564-0203

Email: mark.miller@farmersinsurance.com

## **

## I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent Mirina Stone (hereinafter Stone) respectfully requests that Appellant Avi Taylor's (hereinafter Taylor) Proposed Petition for Review of the Court of Appeals May 2, 2022 Opinion Terminating Review be denied. As the following argument and authorities establish, none of the issues raised by Taylor satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b) to warrant the Supreme Court accepting review. The decision of the Court of Appeals in no way conflicts with any Supreme Court decision or any other Court of Appeals decision and does not involve any question of law under the Washington State Constitution or United States Constitution. Moreover, the Court of Appeals Unpublished Decision upholding the trial court's bench trial verdict pursuant to the "substantial evidence" standard does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

Taylor had her days in court (a five-day bench trial) to prove her injuries and damages arising from a minimal-impact intersection collision and the court awarded her \$35,000 in noneconomic damages based on all the evidence presented. The Court of Appeals affirmed that result in all respects based on its review of the record and application of the substantial evidence standard, and there are no compelling considerations in this case for the Supreme Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision.

#### II. ARGUMENT

# A. None of Taylor's Arguments Requesting Review Meet the Requirements of RAP 13.4(b).

To obtain this court's review, Taylor must show that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with (1) a decision of the Supreme Court or (2) another Court of Appeals decision, or (3) that she is raising a significant constitutional question, or (4) there is an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). While Taylor's Petition argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with other Supreme Court and Court of Appeals opinions and that the decision raises issues of substantial public interest, a simple review of the Court of Appeals decision in this case as well as the actual record on

appeal establishes that no conflicts exist and nothing about this civil bench trial decision or the subsequent review of the decision by the Court of Appeals under the "substantial evidence" standard<sup>1</sup> that raises any public interest issues.

Accordingly, there is no basis for the Supreme Court to review this case.

<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals Opinion in this case stated the Standard of Review as follows:

Upon appeal of a bench trial, "respondents are entitled to the benefit of all evidence and reasonable inference therefrom in support of the findings of fact entered by the trial court."

Mason v. Mortgage America Inc., 114 Wn.2d 842, 853, 792

P.2d 142 (1990)(quoting Lidstrand v. Silvercrest Indus., 28 Wn. App.359, 364, 623 P.2d 710 (1981). After a trial court has weighed the evidence, our review is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the court's findings, and, if so, whether the findings support its conclusions. City of Tacoma v. State, 117 Wn.2d 348, 361, 816 P.2d 7 (1991). Substantial evidence is that which would persuade a fairminded, rational person of the truth of the finding. In re Estate of Palmer, 145 Wn. App. 249, 265-66, 187 P.3d 758 (2008).

# 1. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With any Supreme Court or Other Court of Appeals Decisions.

Taylor argues that the Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with Palmer v. Jenson, 132 Wn.2d 193, 937 P.2d 597 (1997), a jury trial arising from a car accident where the jury's verdict was for the exact amount of the medical bills, leading to the presumption it did not include any general damages despite clear and uncontroverted evidence that plaintiff suffered injuries in the accident. *Id.* at 195-96. The Supreme court in <u>Palmer</u> the reviewed the record to determine if the omission of general damages was contrary to the evidence and granted a new trial, concluding that "The medical evidence substantiates Pamela Palmer's claim that she experienced pain and suffering for over two years after the accident. We hold the jury's verdict providing no damages for Palmer's pain and suffering was contrary to the evidence." *Id.* at 203.

Palmer is not in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in this matter and is not helpful to Taylor's Petition for Review. Palmer does not stand for the proposition that Taylor should have been awarded additional general damages for "disability, disfigurement, mental anguish & loss of enjoyment of life" which she wrongly claims were "uncontested." See Taylor's Proposed Petition for Review at 7-8. It stands for the proposition that a jury's award of medical specials only when there is uncontested pain and suffering is likely an insufficient verdict. Taylor was awarded significant damages for pain and suffering in this matter, however, in a bench trial where the trial court issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and found that "as a direct and proximate cause of the collision Plaintiff Avi Taylor sustained pain and loss of enjoyment of life for a period of time" and awarded her a total of \$35,000 for noneconomic damages. CP 27.

Moreover, there were no "uncontested" damages in this case which the trial court failed to award. All injuries and

damages were contested by Stone with medical evidence from a neurosurgeon, Dr. James Blue, whose physical examination of Taylor showed that she had normal neurological and sensory function. RP 474. Following the CR 35 examination Dr. Blue concluded, within a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that there was no objective evidence of injury to Taylor in the 2016 accident. RP 478-79. There wasn't any structural or radiographic evidence of injury, and no evidence of any local trauma. RP 479.

Additionally, there was no testimony from Taylor's only medical expert, Dr. Gallegos, ND, that Taylor was "disfigured" or suffered "disfigurement" from the accident, or that she suffered any permanent "disability." Taylor never asked Dr. Gallegos about any permanent disability, and Dr. Gallegos hadn't treated Taylor for a couple of years when she testified at trial that she "would not stop treatment until she was at or near pre-accident status. It looks like – it looks like she was getting – it looked like she was getting close, although we didn't see

what would happen without treatment." RP 433-34. Simply put, this matter is not a case where there were uncontested general damages that the trial court forgot/failed to award, and the <u>Palmer</u> case does not conflict with the Court of Appeals decision which reviewed the record and the trial court's findings under the "substantial evidence" standard and affirmed after finding no error.

None of the other cases cited by Taylor come remotely close to conflicting with the Court of Appeals decision in this matter. For example, Taylor argues that she was entitled to future damages under Bitzan v. Parisi, 88 2n.2d 116, 558 P.2d 775 (1977), a case where the jury awarded future damages to Bitzan based for the most part on his own testimony that he was continuing to suffer pain, disability, and loss of earnings up to the time of trial. Bitzan held that "proof of pain and suffering as late as at time of trial even though subjective in character will warrant an instruction on future damages." *Id.* at 122. Taylor argues she was "still suffering pain, suffering, disability,

lost earnings, and more, from the time of the February 23, 2016 collision to the date of trial on November 2, 2021 – a period of over five years, was evidenced by many" and therefore should have been awarded future damages. *See* Proposed Petition for Review at 22.

Bitzan only stands for the proposition that a jury instruction is warranted in a jury case if there is sufficient evidence of future damages, it doesn't dictate that future damages must be awarded, as that is for the jury to decide. In a bench trial it is for the judge to decide. Stone presented substantial evidence that Taylor did not suffer any ongoing injuries, and Taylor ignores the trial court's Finding of Fact 25 where the trial court stated:

The court finds that as a direct and proximate cause of the collision, Plaintiff Avi Taylor sustained pain and loss of enjoyment of life for a period of time.

CP 27. While the trial court did find that Taylor sustained pain and loss of enjoyment of life, she put a limit of the pain and suffering to a "period of time." The trial court did not find that

Taylor was disfigured, disabled, had any permanent injuries, or would have future pain or suffering. The trial court was not required to award Taylor future damages just because she presented some testimony on future damages, as there was substantial evidence to show she did not have ongoing symptoms from the accident, including Dr. Blue's testimony that at the time he examined her there was no objective evidence of any ongoing injury, with a normal sensory and neurologic exam. RP 478-79. The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's findings and conclusions based on the substantial evidence rule, including the trial court's decision not to award future non-economic damages. See Court of Appeals Opinion at 9-12. Nothing in the Court of Appeals Opinion conflicts with Bitzan.

Finally, Taylor claims that the Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with the decision of <u>Leak v. U.S Rubber</u>

<u>Co.</u>, 9 Wn. App. 98, 511 P.2d 88 (1973) on the issue of her right to future medical care. *See* Proposed Petition for Review

at 24-25. Leak involved a case where the plaintiff had a preexisting seizure condition which had had not been active for several years, but soon after a vehicle accident his seizures returned. *Id.* at 99. Plaintiff claimed that the accident lit-up his preexisting seizure condition and that he would require future medical care. Expert medical testimony from his treating doctor confirmed that the resumption of seizure activity was "more likely than not" caused by the trauma of the accident. *Id.* at 100. At trial the jury awarded \$48,000 to the plaintiff.

## Leak held as follows:

Since plaintiff's epileptic seizures were recurring at the time of trial and he had received medical attention for the seizures, including a neurological study at the University of Washington Hospital, it could be inferred from the evidence that future treatment would be necessary. Likewise, since his back and neck were continuing to cause him pain, both from the initial injury and aggravation and worsening of a preexisting arthritic condition to that area, it could be inferred that he would have additional medical treatment in the future. The court was warranted in submitting the issue of future medical expense to the jury.

*Id.* at 104.

Taylor argues that the <u>Leak</u> decision is in direct conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in this case which stated as follows:

Here, Taylor concedes that "[u]nfortunately, the medical bills did not end up getting admitted" at trial. And while damages "are awardable for medical expenses that are reasonably certain to be necessary in the future, Stevens v. Gordon, 118 Wn. App. 43, 55, 74 P.3d 653 (2003)(citing Leak v. United States Rubber Company, 9 Wn. App. 98, 103, 511 P.2d 88 (1973), Taylor failed to present any exhibits or testimony as to her future need for medical treatment and costs of such treatment. Based on Taylor's failure to provide objectively verifiable proof of her past and future medical costs, the trial court correctly declined to award damages for medical expenses.

See Court of Appeals Opinion at 12.

As the Court of Appeals and the record make clear,

Taylor failed to present any exhibits or testimony to support

future medical costs, and therefore the trial court was correct in

denying any claim for future medicals. Nothing was presented

by Taylor to prove that future medical expenses were

reasonably certain to be necessary, and nothing the Leak

opinion required that the trial court award future medical care which was not support by the evidence.

# 2. This Case Does Not Involve Issues of Substantial Public Interest.

Taylor appears to argue that this simple auto accident case and the Court of Appeals Unpublished Decision that affirmed the trial court's damage award in a bench trial under the "substantial evidence" standard raise issues of substantial public interest because there are so many people seeking damages for automobile injuries in Washington. *See* Proposed Petition For Review, pp. 25-35. She claims that the Court of Appeals decision creates an "unprecedented reduction of damage recovery," *Id.* at 6, and seems to advocate that jury verdict forms be revised to delineate all types of non-economic damages. *Id.* at 10-15.

The amount of damages awarded in a bench trial is not an issue of substantial public interest that requires Supreme Court review. It is a discretionary decision by the trial judge as to the

amount of damages awarded, and the Court of Appeals is the safeguard that ensures there was substantial evidence to support the court's findings, and if so, whether the court's findings support its conclusions. City of Tacoma v. State, 117 Wn.2d 348, 361, 816 P.2d 7 (1991). That is what happened in this case, and the Court of Appeals affirmed the damages awarded by the trial court after its review of the evidence. Taylor may believe she should have been awarded more damages, but the trial court heard all the evidence and decided otherwise. There is nothing about that result that requires review by this court.

As to Taylor's claim that this case raises an issue of substantial public interest because the trial court didn't delineate her award to address every possible element of economic damages, there is no such requirement. Jury instructions and verdict forms are not required in bench trials, see In re Pers. Restraint of Heidari,159 Wn. App. 601, 609, 248 P.3d 550 (2011), but even in jury trials the most specific the standard verdict form get is requiring the jury to provide a total

amount for past economic damages, a total for future economic damages, and a total for past and future noneconomic damages. *See* WPI 45.20. Other verdict forms just require the jury write in a single total for all damages. *See*, *e.g.*, WPI 45.22. Requiring a judge or jury to assign a dollar amount to every element of non-economic or economic damages is needless and will not increase the total award, and such an idea is not a reason for the Supreme Court to accept review in this case.

## III. CONCLUSION

Taylor has not presented any viable argument under RAP 13.4(b) that would warrant review by the Supreme Court. The Court of Appeals decision in this case was correctly decided under the "substantial evidence" standard, and it does not conflict with any Supreme Court or other Court of Appeals decisions. Moreover, Taylor has failed to raise an issue of substantial public interest, and her Petition for Review should

be denied.